COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

KUT SUEN LUI and MAY FAR LUI, Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

ESSEX INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT ESSEX INSURANCE COMPANY

Michael McCormack Janis C. Puracal BULLIVANT HOUSER BAILEY PC 1700 Seventh Avenue, Suite 1810 Seattle, Washington 98101-1397 Telephone: 206.292.8930

Facsimile: 206.386.5130 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant Essex

Insurance Company

STATE OF WASHINGTON

I. INTRODUCTION

Essex Insurance Company insured a commercial building owned by the Luis. The surplus-lines insurance policy includes a provision that, if the building became vacant, coverage is restricted. Specifically, the policy provides that "[e]ffective, at the inception of any vacancy or unoccupancy, the Causes of Loss provided by this policy are limited" The policy also provides that, if the building remains vacant for more than 60 consecutive days, all coverage is suspended.

In January 2011, the building was damaged when a sprinkler pipe broke. Essex paid almost \$300,000 of the loss before discovering that the building was vacant when the loss occurred, and it has declined to pay more.

The facts are undisputed that the Luis' only tenant vacated the entire building in December 2010, one month before the loss. The Luis also have not disputed that the January 2011 pipe break is not within the limited covered causes of loss that remained available as soon as the

building became vacant. Accordingly, Essex determined the Luis' loss was not covered.

The Luis contend, however, that the policy provision is ambiguous, specifically asserting that the word "vacancy" can only mean 60 days of vacancy. That is, the Luis argue that coverage cannot be limited upon the inception of the vacancy, but only after 60 days. The Luis make this argument even though the policy expressly provides that a building is "vacant" "unless at least 31% of [the building's] total square footage is" used by the owner or a lessee to conduct customary operations. There is no dispute that the Luis' building was empty and unoccupied at the time of the sprinkler pipe break.

The trial court accepted the Luis' argument, erroneously holding that the policy was ambiguous and could be read to mean that a completely vacant and unoccupied building was not effectively vacant until more than 60 days after the vacancy occurred. (CP 773) This interpretation rewrites the policy, providing the Luis

coverage for a vacant building that is not provided by the language of the policy.

Also at issue, the Luis assert that Essex acted in bad faith by making the wrong coverage determination—i.e., by applying the literal terms of the vacancy provision.

Although an insurer can act in bad faith by failing to conduct an adequate investigation even when there is no coverage for the loss under the terms of the policy, the Luis do not allege that here. Further, there is no genuine issue of material fact concerning the adequacy of Essex's investigation. Essex correctly denied coverage, and it did not act in bad faith as a matter of law.

Still, the Luis contend that even if there is no actual coverage by contract, they are nevertheless entitled to coverage by waiver or estoppel. Although the trial court did not rule on that issue, it expressed agreement in principle. The Luis' position on this issue of law is refuted by established case law. Coverage for a property insurance loss cannot be established by estoppel or waiver contrary to the terms of the policy. Indeed, Washington law is clear

there is no coverage by waiver or estoppel in the context of first-party property insurance coverage.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred in entering the Order on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment and the Order Denying Defendant Essex Insurance Co.'s Motion for Reconsideration, ruling that:

- the Vacancy/Unoccupancy Provision is
 ambiguous and coverage is owed for a vacant building, and
- the Luis cannot establish coverage by estoppel or waiver as a matter of law.

III. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO</u> ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Vacancy/Unoccupancy Provision (a) restricts coverage to certain causes of loss "at the inception of any vacancy or unoccupancy" and (b) suspends coverage entirely if the building is vacant "beyond a period of sixty consecutive days." The policy defines a building as "vacant" when usage falls below 31%. Did the trial court err when it found the policy ambiguous as to when the

vacancy begins such that coverage is restricted to select causes of loss?

- 2. The Luis admit the building was not under construction or renovation at the time of the sprinkler leak. Should the Construction/Renovation Exception apply such that the building should not be considered vacant?
- 3. Can Essex be found in bad faith when it reserved its rights under the policy throughout its investigation and, after paying nearly \$300,000, correctly determined there is no coverage available under the policy?
- 4. In the event the Court remands this case on the issue of bad faith, can the Luis recover policy proceeds as a remedy for alleged bad faith when the Washington Supreme Court has repeatedly ruled that an insured cannot create coverage by estoppel or waiver in a first-party property case?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

1. The Insurance Policy

The Luis own an apartment building in Tacoma,

Washington. Essex issued an insurance policy for property coverage to the Luis in 2004 (the "policy"). (CP 264) The policy was registered and delivered as surplus line coverage pursuant to RCW 48.15.040, a type of coverage allowed by statute for higher risk properties when regular policies are not available.¹

Attendant with the higher risk involved with the Luis' property, and consistent with the higher risk involved with any vacant property, the policy includes a Vacancy/Unoccupancy Provision that (1) restricts coverage to certain causes of loss "at the inception of any vacancy or unoccupancy," and (2) suspends coverage entirely if the building is vacant or unoccupied "beyond a period of sixty consecutive days." (CP 278) The policy specifically defines a building as "vacant" unless "at least 31% of its total square footage is" used by the owner or lessee to conduct customary operations. (CP 290)

¹ See Saunders v. Lloyd's of London, 113 Wn.2d 330, 332 n.1, 779 P.2d 249 (1989).

2. The Vacancy

Shortly after the Luis' coverage began in 2004, Essex learned the building had been vacant when the policy was issued. (CP 428) Essex cancelled coverage. (CP 432)

Coverage was reinstated when the Luis began renting the premises to the Agapé Foundation. (CP 232)

In 2010, Agapé fell behind on its rent payments to the Luis, and the Luis instituted an unlawful detainer action against Agapé. (CP 435) The Luis and Agapé entered into a stipulated order whereby Agapé was to move out of and completely vacate the premises no later than December 1, 2010. (CP 440) It is undisputed that Agapé moved out of the property on December 3, 2010, taking everything in the building when it left and leaving the building completely empty and unoccupied. (CP 324)

The Luis did not inform Essex that Agapé had moved out of the premises or that there was no new tenant to take Agapé's place. (CP 227)

3. The Sprinkler Leak

According to the Luis, a frozen sprinkler pipe broke

on January 1, 2011, causing water damage at the property.

(CP 4) The Luis tendered the claim for loss to Essex, and

Essex began its investigation into the claim subject to a full
and continuing reservation of Essex's right to deny
coverage or limit payment under the policy. (CP 528)

Essex repeated its reservation in 14 letters throughout the
course of its one-year coverage investigation. (CP 536578) Essex paid to the Luis \$293,598.05 for the loss while
continuing its investigation. (CP 480)

Essex learned during its investigation that Agapé had vacated the premises; that no new tenant had taken Agapé's place; and that the building was not undergoing any construction or renovation during the period of vacancy and unoccupancy. (CP 324, 339, 355-58) Essex then denied any further payment to the Luis based on the Vacancy/Unoccupancy Provision. (CP 577) Essex did not demand the Luis return the nearly \$300,000 already paid, but not owed. (CP 577) Despite the fact that Essex had never promised more money that it paid, the Luis still

demanded more money and filed this lawsuit alleging Essex improperly denied coverage and acted in bad faith. (CP 3)

4. Undisputed Facts

It is undisputed that:

- Agapé moved out of the building on December
 3, 2010 (CP 324, 339, 355);
- the building was left completely empty and unoccupied (CP 358, 364);
- the Luis did not have a new tenant at the building at the time of the loss on January 1,
 2011 (CP 323-24, 330-32, 339);
- the property was not under construction or renovation at the time of the sprinkler leak (CP 356-58, 364-66);
- the Luis did not request or obtain approval from Essex for continued coverage during the vacancy (CP 227); and
- the damage was caused by a sprinkler leak (CP
 4).

B. Procedural History

Essex and the Luis each filed cross-motions for summary judgment requesting the trial court interpret coverage under the Vacancy/Unoccupancy Provision of the policy. (CP 35, 197) Essex further requested the trial court find Essex did not act in bad faith as a matter of law by denying the Luis further payment under the policy. (CP 223)

The trial court granted the Luis' motion for summary judgment and denied Essex's motion, finding the Vacancy/Unoccupancy Provision ambiguous. (CP 690) By order dated October 11, 2013, the trial court denied Essex's motion for reconsideration, but granted Essex's request to certify the matter to this Court. (CP 852) This Court granted certification under RAP 2.3(b)(4).

V. AUTHORITY

An order granting summary judgment is reviewed de novo, "with the reviewing court performing the same

inquiry as the trial court."2

A. The trial court erred when it found the Vacancy/Unoccupancy Provision ambiguous.

The trial court failed to follow principles of insurance policy interpretation that are well-settled under Washington law.³ On review, this Court must construe the policy as a whole, giving each clause force and effect.⁴ The Washington Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that, "[m]ost importantly, if the policy language is clear and unambiguous, we must enforce it as written; we may not modify it or create ambiguity where none exists. We will hold that a clause is ambiguous *only* 'when, on its face, it is fairly susceptible to two different interpretations, *both of which are reasonable*.'"⁵ The trial court violated these principles when it found an ambiguity despite the

² Ski Acres, Inc. v. Kittitas Cnty., 118 Wn.2d 852, 854, 827 P.2d 1000 (1992) (citing Herron v. Tribune Publ'g Co., 108 Wn.2d 162, 169, 736 P.2d 249 (1987)).

³ Quadrant Corp. v. Am. States Ins. Co., 154 Wn.2d 165, 171, 110 P.3d 733 (2005) ("The criteria for interpreting insurance contracts in Washington are well settled.").

⁴ Overton v. Consolidated Ins. Co., 145 Wn.2d 417, 424, 38 P.3d 322 (2002) (citing Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 v. Int'l Ins. Co., 124 Wn.2d 789, 797, 881 P.2d 1020 (1994)).

⁵ Quadrant Corp., 154 Wn.2d at 171 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Luis failure to offer a reasonable interpretation of the Vacancy/Unoccupancy Provision.

1. The plain language of the policy is clear.

The Vacancy/Unoccupancy Provision provides:

Coverage under this policy is suspended while a described building, whether intended for occupancy by owner or tenant, is vacant or unoccupied beyond a period of sixty consecutive days, unless permission for such vacancy or unoccupancy is granted hereon in writing and an additional premium is paid for such vacancy or occupancy.

Effective, at the inception of any vacancy or unoccupancy, the Causes of Loss provided by this policy are limited to Fire, Lightning, Explosion, Windstorm or Hail, Smoke, Aircraft or Vehicles, Riot or Civil Commotion, unless prior approval has been obtained from the Company.

(CP 278)⁶ The purpose of a vacancy provision is "to exclude those structures which present a higher insurance risk than exists for occupied buildings." That is, when a building is vacant, there is higher risk of damage resulting from fire, trespass, and defects, such as leaks, that would

⁶ The "Vacancy or Unoccupancy" clause, found in the "Change in Conditions" Endorsement, amends the vacancy provision in the "Conditions" section of the policy. (CP 278, 290)

⁷ Heartland Capital Inv., Inc. v. Grange Mut. Cas. Co., No. 08-CV-2162, 2010 WL 432333, at *4 (C.D. III., Feb. 2, 2010).

go unnoticed and cause greater damage.⁸ Washington courts agree that the concept of a vacancy provision "is a reasonable one, and, having been plainly and deliberately agreed upon by the parties, it should be enforced as any other contract provision."⁹

The first paragraph of the Vacancy/Unoccupancy
Provision (the "Suspension Clause") suspends coverage
entirely if the insured building is vacant or unoccupied for
more than 60 consecutive days. That clause is not at issue
here because the building had been vacant for fewer than 60
days at the time of the loss.

The second paragraph (the "Restriction Clause")
restricts coverage when the building is vacant or
unoccupied but has been vacant or unoccupied fewer than
60 consecutive days. In that situation—i.e., whenever the
building is vacant or unoccupied—coverage is provided

⁸ See, e.g., Rojas v. Scottsdale Ins. Co., 678 N.W.2d 527, 533 (Neb. 2004) ("[W]hen a building is not in use, it is more likely that potential fire hazards will go undiscovered and that a fire in a vacant or unoccupied building will burn for a longer period and cause greater damage before being detected.").

⁹ Brehm Lumber Co. v. Svea Ins. Co., 26 Wn. 520, 524, 79 P. 34 (1905).

only for specified causes of loss, none of which apply to the present loss.

Because the insured building was vacant at the time of the loss, Essex determined that the Restriction Clause applied and, therefore, the Luis were not entitled to coverage for their loss. The trial court disagreed.

The trial court found the Vacancy/Unoccupancy

Provision ambiguous based on the Luis' argument that the

property is not deemed "vacant" until 60 days after the

property is empty. (CP 690, 773-74) At the hearing on

summary judgment, counsel for the Luis argued:

[T]he way we read the 60-day insurance provision is that vacancy doesn't occur until after the 60th day. Any inception of vacancy, if you read our 60-day argument correctly, means that vacancy doesn't begin until the 61st day. So inception of vacancy isn't until the 61st day.

(CP 757) That is to say, according to the Luis, the building does not become "vacant" until 60 days after it becomes vacant or unoccupied. The trial court accepted the Luis' interpretation, finding the policy was ambiguous as to when the "inception" of the vacancy occurred under the

Restriction Clause—i.e., whether (1) when the property became vacant or (2) 60 days later.

Vacancy, however, is specifically defined in the policy:

6. Vacancy

a. Description Of Terms

(1) As used in this Vacancy Condition, the term building and the term vacant have the meanings set forth in (1)(a) and (1)(b) below:

. . .

- (b) When the policy is issued to the owner or general lessee of a building, building means the entire building. Such building is vacant unless at least 31% of its total square footage is:
 - (i) Rented to a lessee or sub-lessee and used by the lessee or sub-lessee to conduct its customary operations; and/or
 - (ii) Used by the building owner to conduct customary operations.

(CP 290) The plain language of the policy provides that the property is deemed "vacant" immediately upon the

happening of a specified condition—usage of the building drops below 31%. The policy definition does not require that the condition persist for 60 days before the property is deemed "vacant." In ruling as it did, the trial court erroneously rewrote the policy definition to include a 60-day waiting period.

Vacancy provisions, like the one in the Essex policy, are common in property policies and are interpreted according to their plain language. No other court in the country has imposed the 60-day waiting period into the policy definition of "vacancy" as did the trial court here.

¹⁰ See, e.g., Heartland Capital Inv., 2010 WL 432333, at *4 ("Reading the insurance policy as a whole, the court finds the policy's definition and concept of vacancy to be clear and unambiguous."); Keren Habinyon Hachudosh D'Rabeinu Yoel of Satmar BP v. Philadephia Indem. Ins. Co., 462 Fed. Appx. 70, 72 (2nd Cir. 2012) (finding an identical definition of "vacancy" to be unambiguous to allow the insurer to exclude a loss under a vacancy provision); Saiz v. Charter Oak Fire Ins. Co., 299 Fed. Appx. 836, 840 (10th Cir. 2008) ("Because we conclude that, at the time of the loss, the business could not have been utilizing more than 31% of the premises for customary operations, the district court properly held that, based on the uncontroverted evidence, the building was vacant under the policy terms."); Hollis v. Travelers Indem. Co. of Conn., No. 08-2350-STA, 2010 WL 1050991, at *9 (W.D. Tenn. March 19, 2010) ("Because at the time the leak began in August 2006, the building was less than 31% occupied, and therefore, under the clear language of the policy, the building was vacant, any water damaged resulting from the leak is excludable.")

Rather, other courts read the "vacancy" definition according to its plain language and have found that the definition is "clear and unambiguous." In Heartland Capital Investments, Inc. v. Grange Mutual Casualty Co., a federal district court in Illinois found an identical definition of "vacancy" to mean what it says—that "[a] structure will be considered vacant unless 31% of its square footage is used by the building owner or lessee to conduct its customary operations."12 In that case, as in this case, both parties agreed that less than 31% of the square footage was in use. 13 The property was, therefore, vacant upon the happening of that condition. 14 The policy's vacancy provision in that case required the insurer to wait 60 days after the inception of the vacancy before it could restrict coverage to select causes of loss. 15 Significantly, the insurer in Heartland was not required to wait 60 days before it could deem the property "vacant" and then an

¹¹ Heartland Capital Inv., 2010 WL 432333, at *4.

¹² Id.

¹³ *Id*.

¹⁴ Id.

¹⁵ Id. at *2.

additional 60 days before it could restrict coverage under the vacancy provision. 16

The Luis and the trial court have read the Suspension Clause and the Restriction Clause together such that the 60-day requirement in the Suspension Clause is carried over to the Restriction Clause. The language of the Restriction Clause does not include the 60-day requirement. Instead, the Clause states that it is effective "at the inception of any vacancy[.]" (CP 278) "Inception" is defined by the Washington Supreme Court as "an act, process, or instance of beginning." If the definition of "vacant" is interpreted according to its plain language and without the 60-day waiting period imposed by the Luis and the trial court, the Restriction Clause must be read to limit the covered causes of loss once usage of the building drops below 31%. The trial court erred when it created an ambiguity where none

¹⁶ Id. at *4.

¹⁷ Panorama Village Condo. Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 144 Wn.2d 130, 139, 26 P.3d 910 (2001) (citing Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary 1141 (1981)).

exists. 18 The Vacancy/Unoccupancy Provision should be enforced as written to preclude coverage in this case.

2. The Construction Exception does not apply.

In response to Essex's motion for discretionary review, the Luis argued for the first time that the building was not "vacant" because the Construction/Renovation Exception to "vacancy" applies. That exception, found in the definition of "vacancy," reads:

Buildings under construction or renovation are not considered vacant.

(CP 290) The Luis' argument represents an about-face from their position in the trial court and is contrary to the undisputed evidence. The Luis conceded in sworn testimony below that the building was *not* under construction or renovation when the sprinkler leak occurred. (CP 356-58, 364-66) Cindy Lui testified that, when Agapé moved out, the only work to be done was "general cleanup that is expected." (CP 357) She testified that none of the cleanup had begun at the time the sprinkler

¹⁸ Quadrant Corp., 154 Wn.2d at ("Most importantly, if the policy language is clear and unambiguous, we must enforce it as written; we may not modify it or create ambiguity where none exists.").

leak happened (CP 366), and the Luis confirmed the building was empty—i.e., vacant and unoccupied (CP 324). At the hearing on summary judgment, counsel for the Luis represented to Judge Serko that "there is [sic] no other issues of fact with respect to the vacancy. It occurred when it occurred." (CP 768)

Yet, on appeal, the Luis argue the building was not vacant because it was under renovation. According to the Luis, they "were preparing, at least tentatively, to re-lease the property to Tacoma Community College[.]" The Luis, however, had not signed a contract with the college and had not begun any work on the building. (CP 323, 339, 358, 364-66)

Other courts agree that simply *planning* to renovate does not constitute "construction or renovation." The Construction/Renovation Exception exists in recognition of

¹⁹ Luis's Response to Essex's Motion for Discretionary Review at 13. The Luis argued the building was under "renovation," but did not contend the building was under "construction" to fall within the Construction/Renovation Exception.

²⁰ Suder-Benore Co., Ltd. v. Motorists Mut. Ins. Co., 995 N.E.2d 1279, 1285 (Ohio 2013) (citing Belich v. Westfield Ins. Co., No. 99-L-163, 2001 WL 20751, at *3 (Ohio Ct. App. Dec. 29, 2000)).

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