No. 45515-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KUT SUEN LUI and MAY FAR LUI,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

ESSEX INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant/Appellant.

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

J. Dino Vasquez, WSBA #25533 Thomas D. Adams, WSBA #18470 Jacque E. St. Romain, WSBA #44167 Karr Tuttle Campbell 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-1313 Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Respondents Kut Suen Lui and May Far Lui

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Summary Judgment Standard of Review

An appellate court reviews an order entering summary judgment de novo, applying the standard of CR 56, and viewing the facts submitted in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Indoor Billboard/Washington, Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Wash., Inc.*, 162 Wn.2d 59, 70, 170 P.3d 10 (2007).

B. Trial Court Correctly Held that the "Vacancy" Provision was Ambiguous and Must Be Interpreted in Favor of the Insureds

The Superior Court's interpretation of the vacancy provisions in Essex's policy is grounded in settled principles of insurance policy interpretation that have been well-developed by Washington's appellate courts. In particular, there can be no doubt under Washington law that where ambiguities exist in an insurance policy, the ambiguities are to be resolved in favor of coverage:

When a provision of a policy of insurance is capable of two meanings, or is fairly susceptible of two constructions, the meaning and construction most favorable to the insured **must** be employed, even though the insurer may have intended otherwise. This rule applies with added force in the case of exceptions and limitations to a policy's coverage.

Greer v. Northwestern Nat'l Ins. Co., 109 Wn.2d 191, 201, 743 P.2d 1244 (1987) (citing Shotwell v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co., 91 Wn.2d 161, 167-68, 588 P.2d 208 (1978)). An insurance policy is a contract and is to be construed according to the general rules applicable to all contracts. State Farm General Ins. Co. v. Emerson, 102 Wn.2d 477, 480, 687 P.2d 1139 (1984); Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington v. Miller, 87 Wn.2d 70, 73, 549 P.2d 9 (1976). But the plain meaning of an insurance policy language is not measured by the understanding of a hypothetical layperson; rather, it is measured by the understanding of an average person engaged in the insured's specific course of business. Roller v. Stonewall Ins. Co., 115 Wn.2d 679, 682, 801 P.2d 207 (1990).

Here, the vacancy provisions are ambiguous at best. Essex argues that the Vacancy Endorsement (See pg. 6) operates in two ways: <u>First</u>, all coverage is meant to be suspended when the covered building "is vacant or unoccupied beyond a period of sixty consecutive days" unless permission is granted to, and an additional premium is paid by, the insured; and

second, immediately upon the inception of a vacancy or unoccupancy, coverage under the policy is limited to certain Causes of Loss and those Causes of Loss do not include water damage of the kind sustained by the Luis. Brief at 13.

The Superior Court correctly rejected the interpretation offered by Essex. CP 691. Instead, the Vacancy Endorsement is more reasonably interpreted to suspend all coverage after sixty days of vacancy or unoccupancy absent permission from Essex and payment of an additional premium. Put differently, the "vacancy" condition does not occur until the building has been vacant or unoccupied for sixty days; upon inception of this vacancy condition, i.e., the post-sixty day period, and with payment of an additional premium, Essex provides coverage but the coverage is limited to certain enumerated Causes of Loss. Id. This interpretation gives effect to all provisions of the Endorsement and properly resolves ambiguities in the word "inception" and elsewhere in favor of the Insureds. This interpretation is reasonable and correctly applied by the Superior Court. There is no dispute that the loss in this case occurred before sixty days had passed from the eviction of the Luis' tenant. Accordingly, the Vacancy Endorsement did not suspend or limit any Cause of Loss and the trial court was correct to hold that the Vacancy

Endorsement did not exclude water damage or other coverage available to the Luis.

Essex's position that coverage for water damage was excluded the day the Luis' tenant left the premises is patently unreasonable and is contrary to the "fundamental protective purpose of insurance." *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Ham & Rye, LLC*, 142 Wn. App. 6, 13, 174 P.3d 1175 (2007). In support of its contention that the inception of "any" vacancy should be read to literally apply on the first day of a vacancy, Essex directs the Court to certain provisions in the policy's "Conditions of Loss." In particular, Essex argues these provisions establish that a "vacancy" is deemed to arise immediately "unless at least 31% of [the building's] total square footage is rented." Brief at 6. According to Essex, because the Luis' building was not leased at all (i.e., less than 31% was rented) at the time of the loss, there was no coverage for water damage.

The Conditions of Loss, read fairly, do not help Essex for several reasons: First, the 31% limitation on its face only applies "[w]hen this policy is issued to the owner..." as stated in the introductory clause. The 31% limitation applies "when," meaning at the moment, the policy is issued presumably because the insurer does not want to insure a build that is uninhabited from inception. However, nothing in the policy suggests

that the 31% threshold must be maintained throughout the period of coverage. CP 290. Second, section a(2) of this same provision states: "Buildings under construction or renovation are not considered vacant." Id. Clearly, "vacancy" is an elastic concept according to Essex's own policy language. There is no dispute that the Luis were preparing, at least tentatively, to re-lease the property to Tacoma Community College for use as a foreign student dormitory. Even if preparations included nothing more than re-painting, re-furnishing, and general maintenance, the preparations reasonably constitute "renovation," a term that is not defined in the policy. Id. Third, under section b(2) of the same provision, coverage exists for some Causes of Loss even after a building "has been vacant for more than 60 consecutive days," although Essex's payment obligation is reduced by 15%. Id. This confirmation by Essex of some coverage for some Causes of Loss is difficult to reconcile with Essex's position that all coverage is suspended under the Endorsement after 60 days of vacancy absent permission and payment of an additional premium.

Essex's policy is structurally-ambiguous with respect to the effect of a "vacancy" on the coverages purchased by the Luis and the trial court was right to interpret the ambiguities in their favor.

a. Essex's Interpretation is Contrary to Washington State Case Law.

It is also significant that the "vacancy"-related provisions all operate as exclusions to coverage and thus must be narrowly construed. Essex's argument that the policy should be read as excluding this type of loss even if the property is empty for a single day prior to a sprinkler leak is an expansive reading of the policy exception which is contrary to Washington State case law: "Exclusions from insurance coverage are contrary to the fundamental protective purpose of insurance, and we will not extend them beyond their clear and unequivocal meaning. In the same vein, we construe exclusions against the insurer." *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Ham & Rye, LLC*, 142 Wn. App. 6, 13, 174 P.3d 1175 (2007) (citing *Stuart v. Am. States Ins. Co.*, 134 Wn.2d 814, 818-19, 953 P.2d 462 (1998)).

b. Essex Has Failed to Provide Any Support for its Position.

Essex provides no support for its position that this policy should be interpreted in any way other than the way in which it was interpreted by the Superior Court. Instead, Essex erroneously relies on a number of cases which show that the "vacancy" exception only applies after a specific time period has passed. For example, Essex relies on *Brehm Lumber Company*

v. Svea Insurance Company, 36 Wn. 520, 79 P, 34 (1905). In Brehm Lumber, the policy provided the following clear and unambiguous exclusion: "Warranted by the assured . . . that if such property be idle or shut down for more than thirty days at any one time, notice must be given this company and permission to so remain idle for such time must be indorsed hereon or this policy shall immediately cease and determine." Id. at 522. There, the Court properly upheld the denial of coverage because the property has been vacant for longer than thirty days. The Luis have no quarrel with Brehm Lumber. If the Luis' property been vacant for more than 60 days, it may be more instructive (though still problematic because Essex asserted the issue so late). Brehm Lumber, in any event, provides Essex no support because here the loss occurred before the specified period expired.

The cases cited by Essex from other jurisdictions are distinguishable. For example, Essex relies on the unpublished Illinois decision *Heartland Capital Investments, Inc. v. Grange Mutual Casualty Co.*, No. 08-CV-2162, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8691 (C.D. Illinois, Feb. 2, 2010). Essex alleges that the policy in *Heartland* contains an "identical definition of 'vacancy'". Brief at 17. There, the Court found a loss excluded specifically because the building had been vacant for **more than**

sixty days, as prescribed by the policy. *Id.* at *10. Yet, somehow, Essex is arguing for a different outcome here. It is undisputed that the Luis' property was not empty for more than thirty days. Therefore, the trial court here properly found that the Luis' property was not vacant.

The other cases cited by Essex are similarly problematic.⁴ Essex makes broad statements in its Brief for which Essex has no support. Specifically, Essex states "No other court in the country has imposed the 60-day waiting period into the policy definition of 'vacancy' as did the trial court here." Brief at 16. However, the contrary is actually true – a simple review of all of the cases cited by Essex shows that in fact no court has removed the waiting period which is written into the policy very clearly, as in this case.

C. The Issues of Estoppel and Waiver are Not Ripe for Appeal

Essex also, for the first time, seeks review of the trial court's denial

of summary judgment on the issues of estoppel and waiver. Brief at 21.

Essex asks this court to find, as a matter of law that no coverage exists by

⁴ See, e.g., Keren Habinyon Hachudosh D'Rabeinu Yoel of Satmar BP v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co., 462 Fed. Appx. 70, 72 (2d Cir. 2012) (policy excludes coverage if the "building where loss or damage occurs has been vacant for more than 60 consecutive days before that loss or damage" (emphasis added)); Saiz v. Charter Oak Fire Ins. Co., 299 Fed. Appx. 836, 839 (policy excludes coverage "if the building where loss or damage occurs has been 'vacant' for more than 60 consecutive days before the loss or damage occurs" (emphasis added)); Hollis v. Travelers Indem. Co., No. 08-2350-STA, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26395 (W.D. Tenn. March 19, 2010) (policy excludes

estoppel or waiver. Brief at 22. However, as Essex itself notes, the trial court denied summary judgment on these issues, finding that "there are issues of fact that govern all those later issues." Brief at 21–22, CP 774.

Denial of summary judgment is not an appealable order. *Quellos Grp., LLC v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 177 Wn. App. 620, 633 n.5, 312 P.3d 734 (2013) (citing RAP 2.2(a); *In re Estate of Jones*, 170 Wn. App. 594, 605, 287 P.3d 610 (2012)). "An order denying summary judgment is essentially interlocutory. It does not end proceedings, but rather permits them to proceed." *In re Estate of Jones*, 170 Wn. App. at 605. "The trial court's denial of summary judgment is not a proper subject for a notice of discretionary review under RAP 2.3(b)." *Roth v. Bell*, 24 Wn. App. 92, 104, 600 P.2d 602 (1979).

The issue of whether coverage exists by estoppel and/or waiver has been reserved for trial because factual issues exist. Therefore, these issues are not properly appealable. The only issue properly before this Court is whether the "vacancy" provision is ambiguous.

coverage "[i]f the building where loss or damage occurs has been 'vacant' for more than 60 consecutive days before the loss or damage occurs" (emphasis added)).

- 18 -

a. Should this Court Consider the Issue of Estoppel, Essex Should be Estopped From Denying Coverage After Unequivocally Accepting Coverage.

Equitable estoppel arises "when a person's statements or conduct are inconsistent with a claim afterward asserted and another has reasonably relied on the statements or conduct and would be injured by a contradiction or repudiation of them." *Estate of Hall v. HAPO Fed. Credit Union*, 73 Wn. App. 359, 362, 869 P.2d 116 (1994). An insurance company can be estopped from denying coverage by its conduct, its knowledge or by statute. *Id.* at 363 (citing *Carew, Shaw & Bernasconi v. General Cas. Co. of Am.*, 189 Wn. 329, 336, 65 P.2d 689 (1937)). In *Saunders v. Lloyd's of London*, 113 Wn.2d 330, 779 P.2d 249 (1989), the Court found that an insurance company could not forfeit the insurance policy for late payments where it had routinely accepted late payments by the insureds. An insurer may be estopped from denying coverage based on its prior course of conduct. *Id.* at 336.

Similarly, where an insurer "denies liability under the policy for one reason, while having knowledge of other grounds for denying liability, it is estopped from later raising the other grounds in an attempt to escape liability, provided that the insured was prejudiced by the insurer's failure to initially raise the other grounds." *Bosko v. Pitts*, 75 Wn.2d 856, 865,

454 P.2d 229 (1969). An insurer is charged with the knowledge which it would have obtained had it pursued a reasonably diligent inquiry. *Id.* Estoppel "arise[s] by operation of law, and rests upon acts, statements or conduct on the part of the insurer or its agents which lead or induce the insured, in justifiable reliance thereupon, to act or forbear to act on his prejudice." *Time Oil Co. v. Cigna Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 743 F. Supp. 1400, 1419 (W.D. Wash. 1990). Estoppel focuses on the insured's justifiable reliance on the insurer's conduct or words. *Saunders v. Lloyd's of London*, 113 Wn.2d 330, 340, 779 P.2d 249 (1989).

Here, Essex should be estopped from denying coverage based on its prior actions. In May of 2011, Essex's counsel wrote to the Luis' counsel stating: "I want to clarify that Essex does not deny coverage for the Luis' claim. The sprinkler leak is a covered loss. The dispute we face is about the value of the loss as defined by the insurance policy." CP 86. The Luis justifiably relied on this representation by Essex, believing that their claims would be paid. Because Essex admitted coverage, the Luis continued to pay the mortgage on the insured property for as long as they could afford it. They paid the mortgage from January 2011 to March 2011, for a total of \$72,907.25, reasonably and justifiably believing that Essex would be paying for their water damage claim so that they could

rent the premises to Tacoma Community College students. CP 48. Moreover, the Luis continued to pay expenses such as the alarm costs, utilities and other operating expenses. *Id.* They also relied on Essex's assurance of coverage to hire a property management consultant for advice on rental of the commercial property and incurred expenses marketing the property. *Id.* In reliance of Essex's acceptance of coverage, the Luis spent in excess of \$161,581.33. *Id.*

By January of 2012, the Luis still had not received all of the funds owing from Essex for their insurance claim. *Id.* They had not been able to afford the mortgage payments for the property since March of 2011 and they were no longer able to afford ongoing expenses and the property management consultant. *Id.* The property remained uninhabitable because of the water damage since the repair work could not be completed because of Essex's failure to pay the entire claim. *Id.* The property was foreclosed on in August of 2012, causing the Luis to lose over \$400,000 in equity. *Id.* The Luis would not have incurred ongoing expenses, marketing expenses and other property-related expenses but for Essex's initial acceptance of coverage. *Id.* Essex should be estopped from now denying coverage.

b. Should this Court Consider the Issue of Waiver, the Court Should Find Essex Waived its Right to Deny Coverage.

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